# STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-30-2019 COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT IV** \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

CASE NO. 2019AP001876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

-VS-

Case No. 2010 CF 222 (Juneau County)

DONALD P. COUGHLIN, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN JUNEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN ROEMER (JURY TRIAL), JAMES EVENSON (SENTENCING), AND STACY SMITH (POSTCONVICTION MOTION) PRESIDING.

#### DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

BY:

Philip J. Brehm Atty For Defendant-Appellant 23 West Milwaukee St., #200 Janesville, WI 53548 608/756-4994 Bar No. 1001823

####

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS4
ARGUMENT10
I. THE CONVICTIONS RELATED TO COUNTS 1-9 AND 11-22 SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO SUPPORT THEM
C. The only sexual contact alleged in the relevant counts of the information involved defendant allegedly touching the victims' penises on numerous occasions
D. The evidence introduced at trial was insufficient to support convictions for Counts 1-9 and 11-2212
E. Defendant was accused of committing the specific offense of touching the victims on the penis for each conviction

II.	TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO PROPERLY ARGUE INSUFFICIENCIES IN THE EVIDENCE TO THE JURY	
III.	DEFENDANT SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE REAL CONTROVERSY HAS NOT BEEN TRIED	
CONC	CLUSION25	
CERT	TIFICATIONS	
INDE	X TO APPENDIX27	
CASES CITED		
	ki v. State, 73 Wis.2d 685, 245 N.W.2d 906 (1976)	
State	y. Burns, 2011 WI 22, 332 Wis.2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166	
State v	v. Hayes, 2004 WI 80, 273 Wis.2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203	
State 1	v. Lomagro, 113 Wis.2d 582, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983)	

State v. Poellinger,			
153 Wis.2d 493,			
451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)10			
State v. Schumacher,			
144 Wis.2d 388,			
424 N.W.2d 672 (1988)24			
State v. Thiel,			
2003 WI 111,			
264 Wis.2d 571,			
665 N.W.2d 30522			
STATUTES CITED			
Wis. Stat. §971.29(2)			

Case 2019AP001876

**Brief of Appellant** 

#### Filed 12-30-2019

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### I. WHETHER A SUFFICIENT FACTUAL BASIS FOR PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR EACH COUNT.

This issue was not raised at trial. On 9/10/19, the trial court concluded there was a sufficient factual basis for each conviction (309:9-20, App. at 101-12). On 9/13/19, an order denying postconviction relief was entered (312, App. at 114).

II. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO PROPERLY ARGUE **INSUFFICIENCIES OF** THE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT EACH COUNT.

The trial court found trial counsel was not ineffective at trial (309:20-21, App. at 112-113). On 9/13/19, an order denying postconviction relief was entered (312, App. at 114).

III. WHETHER **DEFENDANT SHOULD** BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE CONTROVERSY REAL HAS NOT BEEN TRIED.

The trial court found the real controversy had been tried (309:21, App. at 113). On 9/13/19, an order denying postconviction relief was entered (312, App. at 114).

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is requested.

Page 5 of 31

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 9/13/10, defendant Donald Coughlin was charged in Juneau County Circuit Court with the commission of the offenses of: (1) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 8/1/90-5/91 offense date); (2) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 2, 7/1/89-12/31/89 offense date); (3) child enticement (John Doe 2, 11/10/90-1/31/91 offense date); (4) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault (John Doe 4, 12/1/98-3/31/99 offense date); and (5) child enticement (John Doe 2, 2/1/08-2/28/08 offense date) (1).

On 1/31/11, a preliminary hearing was held (263). At the conclusion of the hearing, defendant was bound over for trial (263:115).

On 3/1/11, an information was filed which alleged 23 counts, including: (1) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 9/1/89-12/31/89 offense date); (2) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 2/1/90-5/14/90 offense date); (3) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 9/1/90-12/31/90 offense date); (4) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 2/1/91-5/14/91 offense date); (5) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 9/1/91-12/31/91 offense date); (6) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 1, 2/1/92-5/14/92 offense date); (7) 1st degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 2, 9/1/89-11/19/89 offense date); (8) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 2, 9/1/90-12/31/90 offense date); (9) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 2, 9/1/91-12/31/91 offense date); (11) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 2, 9/1/92-11/19/92 offense date); (12) 1st degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/89-12/31/89 offense date); (13) 1<sup>st</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 2/1/90-5/14/90 offense date); (14) 1<sup>st</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/90-12/31/90 offense date); (15) 1st degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 2/1/91-5/14/91 offense date); (16) 1st degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/91-12/31/91 offense date); (17) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 2/1/92-5/14/92 offense date); (18) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/92-12/31/92 offense date); (19) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 2/1/93-5/14/93 offense date); (20) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/93-12/31/93 offense date); (21) 2<sup>nd</sup> degree sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 2/1/94-5/31/89 offense date); (22)

Case 2019AP001876 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-30-2019 Page 7 of 31

repeated sexual assault of a child (John Doe 3, 9/1/94-11/9/94 offense date); and (23) child enticement (John Doe 4, 2/1/08-2/21/98 offense date) (11). The first 21 counts consistently alleged defendant had touched each victim on the penis during a specific time frame (11). On 3/1/11, defendant stood mute and not guilty pleas were entered on his behalf (264:3).

On 6/1/15, a jury trial commenced (272). On 6/11/15, the jury found defendant guilty of all counts except Count 10 of the information (272:4-21). Bond was revoked and defendant was remanded for sentencing (272:29-30). On 11/23/15, defendant's trial counsel, Attorney Daniel Berkos, filed a motion for a new trial, asserting that a juror had lied about material matters during the voir dire process (104). On 6/28/16, the court orally granted defendant's motion a new trial (289:30-31).

On 3/19/17, Attorney Berkos filed a motion to dismiss under double jeopardy grounds (127). On 4/12/17, the court denied the motion to dismiss (297:19).

On 4/28/17, the second jury trial commenced on Counts 1-9 and 11-23 (298). On 5/9/17, at the conclusion of trial, defendant was found guilty of Counts 1-9 and 11-22 (199). Defendant was acquitted of Count 23 (199:22). On 10/24/17, a sentencing hearing was held (308). Defendant was sentenced to a total of 48 years in prison under old law (308). Defendant filed a timely notice on intent to seek postconviction relief (222).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant Donald Coughlin was convicted of 21 counts (199). Counts 1-6 involved G.F. (John Doe 1) (199:1-6). Each of the verdicts found defendant guilty of touching G.F.'s penis during specified time periods (199:1-6). Counts 7-9 and 11 involved J.C. (John Doe 2) (199:7-10). Each of the verdicts found defendant guilty of touching J.C.'s penis during specified time periods (199:7-10). Counts 12-22 involved A.F. (John Doe 3) (199:11-21). For Counts 12-22, defendant was found guilty of touching A.F.'s penis during specified time periods (199:11-20).

During trial, each of the victims testified about numerous instances of sexual contact between defendant and each of them, almost all contacts consisting of hand-to-penis contact, either by defendant touching a victim, or a victim touching defendant. The victims provided testimony regarding the relevant time periods.

On 5/1/17, G.F. testified (299:122-294). He testified he was born 8/23/76 (299:122). He testified the first sexual contact between him and defendant occurred when he was 7 (229:158). It involved him rubbing baby powder on defendant's genitals (299:158-60). He said this became a common occurrence, happening up to two times per week for an unspecified period (299:160). He testified defendant performed oral sex on him about once per month for an unspecified period (299:162). He testified that in the fall of 1989, he and defendant engaged in sexual activities at least one time (299:173). He testified sexual activity took place in the spring of 1990 (299:180), the fall of 1990 (299:186), the spring of 1991 (299:190-91), the fall of 1991 (299:193) and the spring of 1992 (299:194). He testified it took place about three times per week during this time period (299:193).

The prosecutor, Assistant Attorney General Richard Defour, had G.F. define "sexual activity" during his testimony:

Q: What type of sexual activity would the defendant have you engage in?

A: So the masturbation where he would have me masturbate his penis until he ejaculated. He would masturbate my penis until I ejaculated, or he would perform oral sex on me.

Q: Would he also ask you to masturbate yourself?

A: Yes.

Q: All right. So would there be occasions where basically everyone would masturbate themselves?

A: Yes (299:168).

On 5/4/17, J.C. (John Doe 2) testified (303:11-68). He testified he was born 11/20/76 (303:11). He testified the first sexual contact with defendant was at the firehouse when he was 12 or 13 (303:19). It involved defendant measuring his penis, as well as the penises of G.F. and A.F. (303:18). He testified they masturbated to get erections to measure them, or afterwards they may have masturbated (303:19). The prosecutor then asked him whether this was the only time defendant had him engage in "some type of sexual activity" (303:22). J.C. said no (303:22). The following question and answer session took place:

Q: What other types of locations did the defendant have you engage in some type of sexual behavior?

A: We would park on their land.

Q: Would you be doing anything before you parked on the land?

A: Shining deer.

Q: And was that something you'd do just with the defendant, or would you be with other people as well?

A: We would usually be—when I was young I would never go with Donny alone, it would be [G.F.] and [A.F.], or [G.F.] or [A.F.], but never just me and [defendant].

Q: So either of the two boys, or both, and you?

A: Yes.

Page 10 of 31

Q: And what would—after you shined deer and you parked, what would happen?

A: We would park and we would measure penises and masturbate. And when that was all done then we would—I would get dropped off at home or wherever, and they would go home, or I would spend the night at their house.

Q: Whose idea would it be that you would stop and park and masturbate?

A: [Defendant].

Q: And was it each person masturbating themselves or would something else happen?

A: He would either masturbate whoever was in the front seat, or he would try to, and himself.

Q: Would he ask somebody—would he ask somebody to masturbate him on occasion?

A: Yeah. He would ask, but I never saw anyone actually do it.

Q: Okay. So that never happened when you were along?

A: No.

Q: But you observe him masturbating some in the front seat?

A: Yeah.

Q: Did he ever masturbate you while you were in the front seat?

A: Yes.

Q: And [G.F.]?

A: Yes.

Q: And [A.F.]?

A: Yes.

- Q: All right. What would happen after—would the defendant ejaculate?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Would you guys ejaculate?
- A: Not when it first started, no.
- Q: Eventually, you would?
- A: Eventually. ...
- Q: Okay. And were you able to observe where the defendant's attention was while he was masturbating? Was he watching you guys? Was he watching himself? Was he watching something else?
- A: While he was masturbating?
- Q: Yes.
- A: Well, if everyone was still doing it then he would watch them. But a lot of times we would do it, and then he would do it.
- Q: Okay. And how often did you go shining with defendant and [G.F.] and/or [A.F.]?
- A: A lot of times over the years. But I couldn't say how many times per given year.
- Q: Okay, Was it something that happened once a month, more than once a month, less than once a month?
- A: I would say more than once a month during last summer and fall.
- Q: Okay. And would it always end up with you guys parking somewhere and having everybody masturbate?
- A: Definitely usually (303:22-25).

J.C. testified the sexual activity occurred at least one time in the fall of 1989 before his thirteen birthday (303:28). It happened at least one time in the fall of 1990 when he would have been 13 (303:29). It would have happened at least one time in the fall of 1991 when he would have been 14 (303:29). It would have happened in the fall of 1992 before he was 16 (303:29).

On 5/3/17, A.F. (John Doe 3) testified (301:24-270). He testified he was born 11/10/78 (301:24-111). He testified sexual behavior occurred between defendant and him, starting when he was seven (301:38). Sometimes he would masturbate defendant (301:42). Sometimes defendant would masturbate him (301:41). He testified he saw defendant masturbate [G.F.] and [G.F.] masturbating defendant (301:42). He testified he saw defendant masturbate [J.C.] and [J.C.] masturbating defendant (301:42). He testified he saw defendant perform oral sex on [G.F.] at least once (301:44). The following question and answering took place regarding the first incident:

Q: What happened—you drove around, what happened?

A: [Defendant] had pulled into a secluded area, wooded area, and I don't know exactly where that was, but he parked there and started talking about our penises, that he wanted to see them.

Q: And so you're 7 or 8. What do you think about that at that point?

A: Well, I didn't really know what to think, so we showed him, and then he wanted to see them erect. Q: What did you do?

A: He wanted me to rub it, or masturbate it, I didn't know what it was at the time, but—so I did that.

Q: And how about [G.F.], was he along?

A: Yes.

Q: What was [G.F.] doing?

A: Same thing, he showed him his penis and was masturbating.

Page 13 of 31

Q: What was defendant doing while you were doing that?

A: He was watching us and masturbating himself.

Q: And then what happened?

A: We got done, [defendant] ejaculated, and that was it. And then we left there.

Q: When he ejaculated, did he have anything to take care of cleaning that up?

A: I don't remember at that time what he cleaned that up with.

Q: Okay. Now, was this the only time this happened?

A: No.

Q: Did it happen fairly often?

A: Yes.

Q: All right. Let's talk about some things that you would be doing that might lead to this type of activity. Did you go shining?

A: Yes, we did.

Q: How often would you go shining deer?

A: In the fall of the year, we would go once, twice a week.

Q: And if you went shining deer in the fall, what would happen after you went shining deer?

A: He would eventually stop somewhere and make us masturbate.

Q: Same that you just described as that first occasion?

A: Yes (301:38-40).

Case 2019AP001876 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-30-2019 Page 14 of 31

A specific incident was recounted by A.F. where he sat on a pile of drywall and masturbated with defendant at a building site in Lyndon Station on Industrial Avenue (301:50-51). He testified there was at least one occasion where the defendant had him engage in sexual activity in the spring of 1990 (301:58), the fall of 1990 (301:59), the spring of 1991 (301:59), the fall of 1991 (301:60), the spring of 1992 (301:60), the fall of 1992 (301:60-61), the spring of 1993 (301:61), the fall of 1993 (301:61), the spring of 1994 (301:61) and the fall of 1994 (301:61-62).

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE CONVICTIONS RELATED TO COUNTS I. **AND** 11-22 **SHOULD VACATED**  $\mathbf{BE}$ **THERE WAS BECAUSE INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED**  $\mathbf{AT}$ TRIAL TO SUPPORT THEM.

#### IV. Standard of review.

In *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752, 757-58 (1990), the court set forth the test to use to determine whether sufficient evidence was presented to support a criminal conviction:

[I]n reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (citation omitted). If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

In *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶4, 273 Wis.2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized issues related to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Case 2019AP001876 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-30-2019 Page 15 of 31

#### V. Relevant facts.

Defendant was charged with first and second-degree sexual assault offenses. On 5/2/17, during trial, the prosecutor orally moved to the court to amend the information to conform to the evidence at trial (300:248-49). An amended information was filed on 5/4/17 (136). For Counts 1-9 and 11-22 of the amended information, the sexual conduct alleged remained "by the defendant touching the victim's penis" (199). Notwithstanding the specific sexual conduct alleged in the majority of the counts of the amended information, the definition of sexual contact was expanded in the jury instructions (198). For second-degree sexual assault, the jury was advised as to the definition of sexual contact:

Sexual contact is the intentional touching of the penis of [the victims] by the defendant, Donald P. Coughlin. The touching may be of the penis directly, or it may be through the clothing. The touching must be done by any body part or any object, but it must be intentional touch. Sexual contact also requires the defendant acted with the intent to become sexually aroused or gratified.

Sexual contact is an intentional touching of the victim of the penis of Donald P. Coughlin, if the defendant intentionally caused or allowed the victim to do that touching. The touching of the penis directly or it may be through the closing. Sexual contact also requires the defendant had the intent to become sexually aroused or gratified (305:70-71).

A similar, two-part instruction was read for first-degree sexual assault (305:80-81).

Interestingly, during the jury instruction conference, it appears the prosecutor had in mind an even more expansive definition of what conduct constituted sexual contact:

I still am requesting the other change that we discussed, that is, the intentional touching by the individuals of the own penises. I believe even under the statutory definition of sexual contact as it existed in-at all appropriate—at all relevant times to this case, as it relates at least to the sexual assault counts, it would apply because it does talk about the intentional touching

of the intimate parts of another person, but it does not specifically say it has to be by the defendant. It only says the intentional touching of another person. You know, so I think that that would apply if that was at the request or at the insistence of the defendant. You know, the same language, specifically if the defendant intentionally caused the victim to touch his own penis, I think that comes under sexual contact as it existed at all appropriate times. So for that reason, I'd ask the Court to supplement 2101-A, both in the first degree and second degree sexual assault counts, to include the intentional touching of the—by the victims at the –that was caused by the defendant (304:4-5).

The trial court declined the State's request (304:6-7).

VI. The only sexual contact alleged in the relevant counts of the information involved defendant allegedly touching the victims' penises on numerous occasions.

The State clearly had the right to amend the information to conform to the evidence, even during trial. *See* Wis. Stat. §971.29(2). Notwithstanding the amendment of the information during trial, the only specific sexual conduct alleged against defendant related to Counts 1-9 and 11-22 of the information, was that he had touched the victims' penises during various time periods (136). Regardless of the jury instructions, this was the only sexual conduct alleged in the verdict forms for the relevant counts (199).

VII. The evidence introduced at trial was insufficient to support convictions for Counts 1-9 and 11-22.

#### G.F., Counts 1-6

G.F. was the alleged victim in Counts 1-6 (136). When he testified at trial, the prosecutor asked him about sexual activity occurring between him and defendant:

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