FILED 10-13-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

DONALD P. COUGHLIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN JUNEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STACY A. SMITH, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-6203 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) collinsws@doj.state.wi.us

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

The jury reasonably relied on direct and circumstantial evidence to find that Coughlin had sexual contact with his stepson at least once during each of the five counts that charged a period from February 1 to May 14. The jury heard sufficient testimony to conclude that Coughlin sexually abused his stepson on approximately a weekly basis at the family home during this period (R. 301:45, 83), such that Coughlin engaged in about 19 sexual acts with his stepson during each of these charged periods. The jury also heard sufficient testimony to conclude that some of the sexual abuse during the stepson's childhood included: (1) Coughlin touching his stepson's penis by "masturbating" on the child (R. 301:45); and (2) The stepson touching Coughlin's penis by "masturbating" on him (R. 301:45). In these five counts, the jury reasonably inferred at least one of the approximate 19 sexual acts that occurred during each charged period included at least one act of Coughlin having sexual contact with his stepson.

The jury also reasonably relied on the direct and circumstantial evidence to find Coughlin had sexual contact with his stepson at least once during each of the five counts that charged a period from September to either November or December in the years 1989 to 1993. The sexual abuse occurred in the family home during these periods such that the same facts identified in the previous paragraph apply here, though the periods are a little shorter so the reasonable inference is that Coughlin engaged in fewer acts with his stepson at the family residence given the shorter charged periods. But the jury also heard about the additional sexual abuse during deer shining that occurred about twice a week during these charged periods. (R. 301:40, 58.) The evidence permitted the jury to reasonably deduce that, between the family residence and deer shining, Coughlin engaged in about 30 sexual acts during the shortest charged period and over 50 acts during the longest charged period. For these five counts, the jury reasonably inferred at least one of the 30 to 50 sexual acts involved Coughlin having sexual contact with his stepson.

The jury reasonably found from the direct and circumstantial evidence that Coughlin had sexual contact with his stepson on at least three occasions during the tenweek period from September 1 to November 9, 1994. As explained in the preceding paragraph, the evidence established that about 10 acts of sexual abuse occurred in the family home during this period. And Coughlin engaged in about 20 sexual acts during deer shining in this same period. For this final count, the jury reasonably inferred at least three of the approximately 30 sexual acts involved Coughlin having sexual contact with his stepson.

The jury also reasonably found that Coughlin had sexual contact with his nephew during each charged period. The four counts centered around the late summer and autumn (R. 136:3-4), the period when Coughlin frequently

Filed 10-13-2021

took his nephew deer shining (R. 303:25). Two counts charged an 80-day period and two counts charged a period in excess of 120 days. (R. 136:3–4.) Deer shining occurred frequently during the charged periods, more than once a month with the nephew (R. 303:25); sometimes as much as four times a month (R. 303:53). The nephew explained how Coughlin rotated which child was in the front seat of the vehicle. (R. 303:23-24.) Coughlin would "masturbate" on (i.e. touch the penis of) the child in the front seat. (R. 303:23-24.) The nephew confirmed he was part of the front seat rotation and Coughlin had "masturbated" on him (i.e. Coughlin had touched his penis). (R. 303:24.) The jury reasonably inferred the nephew was in the front seat in sufficient frequency for Coughlin to have touched his penis at least once during each of the four charged periods.

The inferences the jury drew were all the more reasonable given the additional evidence presented regarding Coughlin's recurring interest in the children's penises that included Coughlin's repeated acts of measuring his stepson's and nephew's penises, incorporating the use of a penis pump in assaults of his stepson, grooming a victim by "grubbing" a child (i.e. grabbing on to a child's penis and testicles), and using alcohol and pornography to entice a child. (R. 301:46– 49, 52, 57, 87–88, 106–07; 303:17–19, 23.)

* * * * *

The evidence was sufficient to sustain the 15 guilty verdicts based upon the reasonable inferences the jury drew. Evidence existed to show that during this time period of their childhood: (1) Coughlin repeatedly and pervasively sexually abused the victims, supra Section B.2.c.; and (2) Coughlin engaged in sexual contact with both victims, supra Section B.2.b. The jury was permitted to infer from the direct and circumstantial evidence that, during the repeated and pervasive sexual abuse against the stepson and nephew, Coughlin had sexual contact at least once in each of the multi-

month periods charged in 14 counts and at least three times in the final count involving his stepson. This is not "a record devoid of evidence on which a reasonable jury could convict." Sholar, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶ 45. A reasonable hypothesis supports the jury's verdicts. *Hauk*, 257 Wis. 2d 579, ¶ 12.

> 3. The court of appeals erred by not high giving the degree deference due to the reasonable inferences available to the jury.

Filed 10-13-2021

This Court owes no deference to the circuit court and court of appeals in review of an evidence sufficiency claim, Smith, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 24. The high deference owed is only to the jury. Rowan, 341 Wis. 2d 281, ¶ 5. Even with no deference due, a moment may be spent examining the contrast between the circuit court's and court of appeals' evidence sufficiency review.

The circuit court correctly applied evidence sufficiency doctrine; the court of appeals did not. Comparing the circuit court's decision to the court of appeals opinion highlights the appellate court's error. The circuit court observed the evidence showed more sexual assaults than just the charged counts: the State "was nice in some ways of not charging more sexual assaults." (R. 309:20.) The court found "[t]here could have been more charges out of this then what was charged, even ten fold . . . in some cases." (R. 309:20.) In contrast, the court of appeals thought Coughlin couldn't be convicted of any counts for sexually assaulting his stepson and nephew. Coughlin, No. 2019AP1876–CR, ¶ 37.

Under such a highly deferential standard, one must ask how two courts reviewed the same evidence and reached such contradictory results. It occurred because the court of appeals misunderstood this stage in the evidence sufficiency framework. The court of appeals dedicated a single paragraph to present the evidence sufficiency doctrinal principles.

Filed 10-13-2021

Coughlin, No. 2019AP1876–CR, ¶ 13. Although it recognized the well-established principle that the evidence must be "viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction," id. (quoting Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 501), it failed to recognize the high deference it must extend to the jury's resolution of any ambiguity or vagueness in the evidence as credibility and weight determinations. The court of appeals strayed from its duty to be highly deferential to the reasonable inferences the jury drew from the evidence.

The court of appeals failed to appreciate this Court has recognized a person doesn't escape punishment because he sexually assaulted a child unable to testify clearly as to the date and details of the assault. State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 33, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174. In *Hurley*, this Court explained: "Often the child is assaulted by a trusted relative and does not know whom to turn to for protection. The child may have been threatened, or, as is often the case, may harbor a natural reluctance to come forward." *Id.* (citations omitted). Such circumstances "deter a child from coming forth immediately. As a result, "exactness as to the events fades in memory." Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 249. A victim of child sexual assault "cannot be held to an adult's ability to comprehend and recall dates and other specifics." Id. Courts have long recognized that "[c]hild molestation often encompasses a period of time and a pattern of conduct. As a result, a singular event or date is not likely to stand out in the child's mind." Id., at 254. The jury—not the reviewing court—is tasked with the responsibility to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence when considering whether the conduct occurred within a charged period of time. See Hauk, 257 Wis. 2d 579, \P 12 (distinguishing role of jury and court).

The court of appeals reached an unusual result by recognizing that the stepson and nephew had testified to sexual abuse, Coughlin, No. 2019AP1876-CR, ¶¶ 7–8, but Coughlin couldn't be convicted for any of it, id. \P 37. The court

Filed 10-13-2021

of appeals appears to have recognized this oddity because it "pause[d] to emphasize that, in reversing the convictions pertaining to [the stepson and nephew], we do not mean to suggest that the conduct they described is not criminal in nature." *Id.* ¶ 34. But it then allowed Coughlin to capitalize on his repeated sexual abuse against the victims. From the court of appeals' perspective, the sexual abuser who assaults a victim in multiple ways over an extended period may escape conviction because "a singular event or date is not likely to stand out in the child's mind." Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 254. But that isn't the law; the "inability to connect the alleged crime with a particular date goes to the issue of credibility, and thus is a matter for consideration by the jury." *Thomas*, 92 Wis. 2d at 386 (quoting *State v. Sirisun*, 90 Wis. 2d 58, 64, 279 N.W.2d 484 (Ct. App. 1979); see State v. Miller, 2002 WI App 197, ¶ 17, 257 Wis. 2d 124, 650 N.W.2d 850 (jury not required to nail down a specific time period).

* * * * *

This Court should find that Coughlin failed to satisfy his heavy burden to reverse the verdicts of the jury. There are few legal principles more deeply rooted and indisputable than judicial deference to a jury's verdict. A court cannot overturn a verdict simply because it wasn't convinced by the evidence. Koller, 87 Wis. 2d at 266. The record must be devoid of evidence upon which to convict. Sholar, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶ 45. Here, sufficient evidence does exist to sustain the guilty verdicts.

> C. The error in the verdict forms was harmless because sufficient evidence existed to convict and the errant forms didn't affect the outcome.

The State certainly recognizes the vital importance for proper instruction and submission of correct verdict forms to the jury. Williams, 364 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 58. But this Court has

recognized the sound policy behind harmless error review as a reasonable approach in instances when there is an error. *Id.* ¶ 52. Harmless error review applies to an error in a verdict form, *Hansbrough*, 334 Wis. 2d 237, ¶ 10, just as it does for an error in the jury instructions, *Williams*, 364 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 51. "The test for harmless error is 'whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed' to the outcome." *State v. Johnson*, 2012 WI App 21, ¶ 14, 339 Wis. 2d 421, 811 N.W.2d 441 (quoting *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985)) This Court applies this test under de novo review, considering the totality of the circumstances during its evidence sufficiency review. *Beamon*, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶¶ 18–20, 27–28.

1. The error in the first ten verdict forms related to Coughlin's sexual contact with stepson was harmless.

The discrepancy between the definition of sexual contact provided during the jury instructions and contact identified on the verdict forms was harmless with respect to the first ten counts relating to Coughlin's sexual assaults of his stepson. The error was sufficiently insignificant that it wasn't presented as an issue in the circuit court. Coughlin didn't raise an objection to the scope of sexual contact after instruction to the jury and its receipt of the verdict forms. (R. 305:99–100; 307:21–22.) In postconviction proceedings, Coughlin identified both forms of sexual contact—his touching of the victims' penises and the victims touching of

¹⁰ For limited purpose of evidence sufficiency review, whether a party objected to a faulty instruction is irrelevant. *See Musacchio*, 577 U.S. at 244 ("failure to object to the heightened jury instruction thus does not affect the court's review for sufficiency of the evidence"); *see also State v. Beamon*, 2003 WI 47, ¶¶ 47–49, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681 (not applying forfeiture doctrine).

Filed 10-13-2021

his penis—as properly within "the legal definition of 'sexual contact" for purposes of this trial." (R. 242:12.)

The errant verdict forms were insignificant because the scope of sexual contact wasn't significant to the defense. Coughlin had denied ever sexually assaulting his stepson (R. 304:152); he repeatedly denied any sort of sexual molestation (R. 304:82, 85-86, 88.) Reliance on the narrower contact identified in the verdict form or broader definition in the jury instructions wasn't the dispositive issue. Whether the jury convicted or acquitted Coughlin for sexually assaulting his stepson came down to who the jury believed. (R. 305:230, 241.) It didn't come down to one form of sexual contact versus another.

The error was harmless because the evidence at trial supported both the theory of guilt in the instructions and narrower sexual contact identified in the verdict forms. The discrepancy in the jury instructions and verdict forms wasn't an instance of a contradiction; rather, the jury instructions contained a broader definition of sexual contact than the verdict forms did. The verdict forms identified only conduct A; that is, Coughlin touching a victim's penis. The broader definition identified conduct A and B; that is, Coughlin either touching a victim's penis or a victim touching Coughlin's penis. The jury received evidence both as to A and B (i.e. Coughlin having touched his stepson's penis and the stepson having touched Coughlin's penis). (R. 301:41–42, 45.) So the error was harmless because the jury received sufficient evidence to convict under both a narrower and broader theory of guilt, supra Section B.2.

> 2. There was no error eleventh and final verdict form related to Coughlin's stepson.

Here, it is important to distinguish the final count from the first ten counts that involved the stepson. This final count

charged Coughlin with committing three or more sexual assaults against his stepson between September and November 1994. (R. 136:7.) On this count, the court instructed the jury that sexual contact meant either "the intentional touching of the penis of [the victim] by the defendant" or "an intentional touching by the victim of the penis of Donald P. Coughlin, if the defendant intentionally caused or allowed the victim to do that touching." (R. 305:84–85.) The verdict in this count never was limited to the narrow act of Coughlin having touched his stepson's penis (R. 199:21; 307:17); it proceeded under the broader definition, both during the instructions and presentation of the verdict forms. As there was no discrepancy between the eleventh verdict form and the instructions, there was no error.

3. The error in the four verdict forms related to Coughlin's sexual contact with his nephew was harmless.

For the four counts regarding Coughlin sexually assaulting his nephew, the discrepancy in the jury instructions and verdict forms was harmless because the trial evidence aligned with the narrower definition of sexual contact identified in the jury verdict forms. The nephew testified that he never touched Coughlin's penis. (R. 303:23–24.) This witness's testimony identified only acts of Coughlin having touched the nephew's penis. (R. 303:24.) So there is no material discrepancy; it's simply an instance of a court instructing on the broader legal definition of sexual contact where only one type of contact is relevant to the facts of the case—the contact identified in the verdict forms.

* * * * *

This Court should conclude the error in the verdict forms was harmless. The error was sufficiently insignificant because this case came down to credibility—not the definition

of sexual contact. (See R. 305:230, 241 (closing arguments).) The State prevails under either the broader definition of sexual contact in the jury instructions or narrower contact identified in the verdict forms. The evidence was sufficient to satisfy either definition. The jury made credibility determinations and reasonably inferred from the evidence that Coughlin had the required sexual contact upon which to find guilt in each of the 15 counts.

CONCLUSION

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